
Growth & Prosperity Scrutiny Panel 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Growth & Prosperity Scrutiny Panel to be 
held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated.

Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Monday, 20 May 2019

TIME: 6.00 pm (5.30 pm Briefing for Panel Members)

VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence. 

2  Declarations of interest. 

3  Derive Update. (Pages 1 - 28)

4  Highways Investment Programme. (Pages 29 - 44)

5  Made to Move Programme. (Pages 45 - 48)

6  Minutes of proceedings. (Pages 49 - 52)

7  Draft Work Programme. (Pages 53 - 54)

8  Any other business. 

9  Date and time of next meeting - Monday 24 June 2019, 6.00 p.m. 
(Briefing for Panel Members at 5.30 p.m.) 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 2602
Claire Edwards, Democratic Services, 
claire.edwards@salford.gov.uk

E-Mail: claire.edwards@salford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



Resolution of the meeting of the Growth & Prosperity Scrutiny Panel
held on 11th March 2019

RESOLVED: (1) THAT the content of the report and discussion be noted with 
thanks to Andrew Leigh for his attendance at the meeting.

(2) THAT arrangements be made for the Panel to be provided with the
following Information for consideration at their next meeting which the Lead Member for 
Housing & Neighbourhoods be requested to attend –

o Business Plan.

o Information regarding risk assessments that had been undertaken.

o Clarification as to whether, in respect of the Charlestown development, the 
properties being provided by Derive are additional properties, or Derive are taking 
over obligations that would have been provided by a registered provider at some 
point.

o Further information in respect of the governance structure, to include the following –

- Are there plans to increase the size and diversity of the Board in the future?  
Would there be an opportunity for the Panel to consider and make 
recommendations regarding the governance structure in the future?

- Were the Board Members appointed in their Cabinet roles?  How do their 
positions on the Cabinet impact on their roles as Board Members?  Is advice 
provided appropriately to Board Members in addition to that provided to the 
Council?

- What arrangements are in place to scrutinise Derive’s procedures and 
behaviour?  Is it anticipated that reports will be submitted to Full Council on a 
regular basis, which could then be programmed into the Panel’s work plan for 
consideration? 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Dérive business 
plan 2019/20 and 
three year budget

Salford

P
age 3



1. Foreword
2. Executive Summary 
3. Dérive’s outcomes and policy wishes
4. First year delivery and outcomes:
5. Operational environment

12. New housing delivery outcomes
14. Financial forecast
18. Financial assumptions and sensitivity analysis
19. Risks and management
20. Conclusion
21. Annex 1: Financial assumptions
22. Annex 2: Risk register – table 13

Contents

P
age 4



1

Salford City Council has worked 
hard with partners to deliver more 
affordable housing to meet need, 
create a good quality housing offer in 
mixed and sustainable communities 
to support a growing city.  It has a 
proud record of growth and affordable 
housing delivery and a committed 
pipeline of 1,041 affordable homes.  
However Salford faces some 
significant challenges including:

• Affordable housing need of 613 
homes a year

• 5,867 households on the housing 
register

• 39 bids for every affordable home 
advertised

• Relets of affordable homes was 
down to 1,383 in 2017 from 1,656 
in 2016 

• Average house price was £173,055 
and the average household income 
was £29,327

• House price ratio of 5.9 - an 
increase from 5.2 the previous year  

• Private rents have increased to an 
average of £756 per month

• Homeless presentations and 
acceptances have continued to 
rise to 1,767 (up from 1,612 the year 
before)

To tackle these issues, in a growing 
city and in light of the policy 
environment Salford is operating 
in, meant that complimentary 
approaches were required to deliver 
more “truly affordable” homes.  To 
help support this Dérive (Salford) 
Ltd, Salford City Council’s own local 
housing company was established.  

Since its establishment and the 
approval of its first Business Plan in 
2018, we have been working hard to 
develop and imbed a whole range 
of operational policies, processes 
and procedures, procure the relevant 
expertise and functions to deliver 
sustainabley a new business.  This laid 
the foundations to enable Dérive to 
start to meet its central aim - delivery 
of “truly affordable housing”.  We 
are proud that in less than a year 
of operation it is expected that the 
first new build homes at a “Salford 

Rents” for Dérive are to be ready for 
occupation in April 2019.  A significant 
achievement I am sure you will agree!  

There has been a steep learning 
curve for everyone involved and we 
are indebted to the hard work and 
commitment of all partners in helping 
us realise this.  However, we don’t 
want to rest on our laurels and as 
indicated in the first business plan, we 
have ambitions to continue to grow 
and develop sustainablely.  To achieve 
this priority the quickest way is to 
purchase homes designed and built 
by developers and contractors.  This 
“off the shelf” approach remains the 
focus of our new robust and evidence 
based business plan.  This builds on 
our experience and commits to further 
growth and innovation.  

To complement this and support 
further sustainable growth and longer 
term ambitions of Dérive, we realised 
that we needed to look at other 
development and delivery models, 
including cross subsidy models were 
units for sale generate an income to 

deliver affordable homes.  “Off the 
shelf” was understandably prioritised, 
but work commenced in this very 
complicated and complex area in 
2018/19.  This Business Plan commits 
to building on this work and identifying 
appropriate opportunities to explore 
and develop complimentary delivery 
models.  

The last year has shown that we can 
achieve a great deal when we work 
in partnership and collaboratively 
together.  There are clearly challenges 
to meet and also great opportunities to 
build on the unique characteristics and 
drive of the people of Salford.  We are 
optimistic and excited about the future.

Cllr Merry Chair of Dérive 

Foreword

P
age 5



2

This document sets out Dérive’s 
Business Plan and Budget for three 
years.  It sets out the: 

• Background, 
• Dérive Outcomes and Policy 

Wishes, 
• First Year Outcomes and delivery 

Operational Environment, 
• New Housing Delivery Outcomes,
• Financial Forecast, 
• Financial Assumptions and 

Sensitivity Analysis, 
• Risks and Management; and 
• Conclusion

Dérive’s main purpose is to increase 
the supply of truly affordable homes 
to meet housing need for the people 
of Salford.  The Business Plan 
commits £15.8m of investment that 
will deliver 117 homes over five years.  
The Business Plan demonstrates 
that with council support, combined 
with appropriate borrowing (to be 
repaid through the rental income), 

that after taxes and costs it will 
generate a surplus from year one.  
Based upon the assumptions herein 
over 30 years there is an estimated 
surplus of £7.2m.  Any surpluses will 
be reinvested to support affordable 
housing supply.  This is important as 
the business needs to be sustainable 
and viable and following initial Council 
support, housing schemes delivered 
are intended to be self financing.

Clearly initial council support to pump 
prime Dérive is required, but over the 
medium to long term to meets its 
aims and objectives, the intention is 
that Dérive will become a successful 
self financing affordable housing 
business that maximises affordable 
housing delivery, with more limited 
long term support from the Council.  

To achieve this, the intention is 
for Dérive to grow and expand 
from being purely a landlord, to 
becoming a landlord and a small local 
development company.  Work to firm 
uop this approach is to continue and 

will be developed over the course of 
this Business Plan.  

There is flexibility for changes and 
further growth in this Business Plan, 
but for a new and growing company 
it is important to ensure that the 
appropriate opportunities, sites 
and models are clearly identified, 
assessed and are deliverable in 
the local market in an appropriate 
manner.  

This Business Plan builds from 
the first Plan and shows Derive’s 
commitment.  This is an exciting time 
for Salford and Dérive.

Executive summary

Key points
• Affordable housing need 613 

homes a year
• 5,867 households on the 

housing register
• 39 bids per home advertised
• Affordable housing relets down 

by 17% to 1,383 in 2017 from 
1,656 in 2016 

• Average house price to incomes 
is 5.9 (increase from 5.2 
previous year)

• 1,767 Homeless presentations 
and acceptances (10% up from 
the year before)

• Private rents have increased to 
an average of £756 per month 

• Partners working hard with a 
committed pipeline of 1,041 
affordable homes

• Something else needs to happen 
- Dérive

P
age 6



3

Dérive’s outcomes
and policy wishes
In light of the housing challenges 
faced in Salford, building on and 
complimentary to the strong 
partnerships in place as part of 
a holistic approach, Dérive was 
established and became operational 
in June 2018.  Its policy wishes are to 
deliver:

• New below market (“Salford 
Rents”) accommodation to meet 
the needs of households on low 
income provided in perpetuity

• Rented accommodation that is 
allocated through the council’s 
existing allocations policy to 
households on the council’s 
housing register 

• A range of well designed, 
quality, flexible, energy efficient, 
sustainable property types, 
tenures (including affordable home 
ownership products and private 
homes that help subsidise the 
delivery of below market rented 
homes) and sizes to support 
choice and mixed tenure blind 

developments and neighbourhoods
• Homes that are additional to what 

would have come forward, provide 
a different housing offer or on 
accelerated delivery timescales

• Homes will maximise social value 
during their construction including 
training and apprenticeship 
opportunities that will be targeted 
to local people

Dérive is a local housing company 
100% owned by the council.  It 
consists of two Directors with a 
secretariat function with support 
provided by council officers and other 
appropriate procured services.  It 
has its own governance, processes 
and procedures and operates as an 
independent company registered with 
Companies House.  It reports to the 
council (as owner) on a regular basis.

The Dérive Board assess and approve 
the business case for each site, 
scheme or opportunity on a case by 
case basis.  These will be financed 

through a combination of borrowing 
(that is funded from the homes rental 
income), grant funding and other 
appropriate assets from the council, 
appropriate funding from government, 
revenue from private homes as part 
of development or funding from 
other sources.  On completion the 
homes are let through Salford Home 
Search with the council having 100% 
nomination rights.  The homes are 
managed in line with the appropriate 
local housing management 
standards, policies and best 
practices.  At the present time the 
housing management, maintenance 
and repairs service has been procured 
externally.

Key points
• Dérive is a new housing 

company owned fully by the 
council adding supply and 
capacity to the sector and social 
value through delivery

• It has a Board and its own 
governance processes

• Appropriate initial council 
funding and support has been 
secured and over time Dérive is 
expected to become more self 
financing

• It will provide good quality and 
well designed affordable homes 
for local people to meet needs at 
rents that are affordable

• The Homes will be let to local 
people on the housing register 
with the council retaining 100% 
nominations

P
age 7



4

First year delivery 
and outcomes
The first £8.4m Business Plan and 
Budget to deliver 67 affordable 
homes was approved by the 
City Mayor in consultation with 
Cabinet in March 2018 and formally 
approved by the first Derive Board 
meeting in June 2018.  To date 
good progress has been made 
including the establishment of a 
Board, appropriate governance and 
reporting arrangements, appointment 
of a company secretary, recruitment 
of a housing management provider, 
SLAs have been developed to 
provide property and legal services, 
appropriate insurance has been 
secured, funding agreements have 
been established and progress 
continues to be made in setting 
up and embedding the necessary 
financial and operational systems.  
This significant investment above 

laid the foundations to enable Dérive 
to be in a position to begin to realise 
its ambition of delivering “truly 
affordable homes”.  

The Business Plan identified potential 
schemes that would deliver 67 
homes and work commenced to 
realise this from June 2018.  In light 
of opportunities this increased to 69 
units and two contracts to acquire 28 
new build homes have been entered 
into.  Start on site has occurred on 
two sites and the first homes are 
expected to be handed over ready 
for occupation for Dérive in April 
2019.  On both these sites, the Dérive 
homes form part of mixed and tenure 
blind housing developments.  Work 
to secure further homes in line with 
the Business Plan is at an advanced 
stage.

This work is anticipated to:

• increase residential spending in 
the area by the new households of 
£600,000 

• create / sustain 136 jobs through 
the developments

• create 8 training opportunities / 
apprenticeships

• This will mean that the original 
Business Plan delivery outcomes 
will have been met and exceeded.

Key points
• Dérive is a new housing 

company owned fully by the 
Council adding supply and 
capacity to the sector

• It has made good progress in its 
first year of operation and is on 
track to deliver 69 homes, 20 in 
2019/20.

• In delivering these new build 
good quality and well designed 
affordable homes for local 
people it will maximise social 
value opportunities 

P
age 8



5

Operational environment
Population and housing growth

Salford is now home to more 
than 234,500 people and covers 
approximately 9,700 hectares, 
extending from the heart of the 
Manchester City Region, through 
the main urban area and into the 
surrounding countryside.  It is one of 
the fastest growing conurbations in 
Greater Manchester population with 

a predicted increase between 2011-
2033 of 13.7%.  Following the housing 
market challenges of 2007/08 
housing delivery has recovered 
slowly.  In 2013/14 895 homes 
were completed compared to 1,596 
housing completions in 2017/18 (see 
Table 1 below).

This compares favourably with 
Greater Manchester as a whole 
which shows that completions1  
since 2013/14 have risen from 
approximately 3,000 up to 4,000 

in 2016/17.  This is shown below 
in Chart 1, alongside the nature 
of development, with private 
sector leading on the majority of 
construction of new homes.

Table 1

Year (gross) Total completions

2013/14 895

2014/15 1,385

2015/16 1,354

2016/17 2,650

2017/18 1,596

Chart 1

1 Excluding conversion

P
age 9



6

Operational environment
Population and housing growth

As at April 2018 there were 
approximately 22,000 homes with 
planning permission and activity on 
sites that will deliver approximately 
4,000 homes in Salford. See Table 2 
below. 

This shows a strong recovery, growth 
and pipeline of homes in Salford.  
Importantly, Greater Manchester is 
also continuing to recover and grow 
with 7,000 housing starts in 2016/17, 

compared to circa 2,500 in 2008/09, 
(see Chart 2 below).  This compares 
to national completions of 160,660 in 
2017/18.

Table 2

Year All units with planning permission 

2016 19,844 

2017 21,834 

2018 21,919

Chart 2P
age 10



7

Operational environment
House sales and prices

In Salford there were approximately 
4,500 homes sold in 2016 compared 
to 5,532 in 2017 (23% increase).  
Salford’s average house price sale 
in 2016 was £152,579, compared to 
£173,055 2017 (13% increase).  

When looking at the national picture, 
Savills December 2018 UK Housing 
Market Report shows a modest rise 
in house prices of 0.3% in November, 
according to Nationwide. This puts 
them at 1.4% up from the start of the 
year, on track to slightly overshoot 
our annual growth forecast of 1.0% 
for the country. 

Price growth may have been positive, 
but this is not echoed in other key 
market metrics, which reflect this 
period of heighted Brexit-related 
uncertainty. The RICS survey showed 
a significant drop in the perception 

of price paid, with surveyors at 
their most pessimistic since 2012. 
It also reported falls in both supply 
and demand (new enquires and 
instructions). Transactions across 
the country were down 3.4% in 
September compared to September 
2017. This followed an unusually 
strong August, but is in keeping 
with a three-year downward trend in 
activity. Savills expect transaction 
volumes to be reasonably stable over 
the next five years, assuming some 
clarity is reached around Brexit. 
When that clarity comes, it may 
generate a resurgence in demand 
and activity. 

The current falls in activity reflect 
broader economic indicators. The 
GFK Consumer Sentiment Survey 
also fell in November, down to its 
lowest score of the year. One of its 

key metrics, the Major Purchase 
Index, dropped by the largest amount 
in 28 months. This widespread loss 
of confidence comes as the ongoing 
Brexit negotiations pass through a 
key period. The uncertainty has given 
rise to a wide range of scenarios for 
the future health of the economy 
being discussed. Additional pressure 
on home buyers comes from 
mortgage servicing costs, which 
have been rising steadily since March 
following the Bank of England base 
rate rise. 

The areas showing the strongest 
house price growth in the year to 
September were the Forest of Dean 
and Burnley, both at approximately 
10.5%, followed closely by Stirling, at 
10.0%. The greatest falls remain in 
London, with Kensington & Chelsea 
and Westminster showing annual 

drops of 9.9% and 6.3% respectively. 
Savilles expect growth to return to 
the central London market once 
there is more clarity around our 
relationship with the European 
Union.  This report went on to state 
that it forecast 21.6% increase in 
house prices for the northwest 
between 2019 and 2023, compared 
to a national forecast of 14.8%. See 
Tables 3 and 4 on the next page for 
more details.

P
age 11



8

Operational environment
Recent house price growth

Table 3

Nationwide
(to Sep-18 for regions, to Nov-18 for UK) 

ONS
(to Sep-18) 

Savills
(to Sep-18) 

m/m q/q y/y m/m q/q y/y m/m q/q y/y 

UK 0.3% 0.8% 2.2% 0.3% 1.1% 3.5% 0.4% 1.2% 3.0% 

London n/a 0.6% -0.4% 0.2% -0.1% -0.3% 0.1% 0.3% -1.6% 

South East n/a -0.2% 1.0% 0.2% 0.5% 1.7% 0.3% 0.9% 2.1% 

East of 
England n/a 1.2% 3.0% 0.0% 0.8% 2.0% 0.3% 0.9% 2.5% 

South West n/a 0.7% 2.0% 0.7% 2.1% 4.3% 0.3% 1.3% 3.8% 

East Midlands n/a 2.2% 4.6% 1.2% 2.2% 6.0% 0.7% 1.7% 5.2% 

West Midlands n/a 1.2% 4.3% 1.5% 2.5% 6.1% 0.6% 2.0% 4.9% 

North East n/a -1.4% -1.3% 1.7% 3.3% 3.6% 0.3% 1.1% 2.0% 

Yorks & 
Humber n/a 3.5% 5.8% -0.2% 0.8% 2.6% 0.5% 1.6% 4.0% 

North West n/a 1.4% 4.0% -0.1% 1.0% 3.3% 0.6% 1.5% 4.4% 

Wales n/a 0.6% 3.4% 0.8% 3.0% 5.8% 0.5% 1.6% 5.4% 

Scotland n/a 0.2% 2.1% 0.6% 1.7% 5.9% 0.7% 2.0% 4.5% 

Table 4

Five year forecasts
(first published November 2017) 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 5-year 

UK 1.5% 4.0% 3.0% 2.5% 3.0% 14.8% 

London -2.0% 0.0% 2.5% 1.5% 2.5% 4.5% 

South East 0.0% 2.0% 2.5% 2.0% 2.5% 9.3% 

East of 
England 0.0% 2.0% 2.5% 2.0% 2.5% 9.3% 

South West 0.5% 3.5% 2.5% 2.5% 3.0% 12.6% 

East Midlands 3.0% 5.0% 3.5% 3.0% 3.5% 19.3% 

West Midlands 3.0% 5.0% 3.5% 3.0% 3.5% 19.3% 

North East 2.0% 5.0% 3.5% 2.5% 3.5% 17.6% 

Yorks & 
Humber 2.5% 5.5% 4.0% 3.0% 4.0% 20.5% 

North West 3.0% 6.0% 4.0% 3.0% 4.0% 21.6% 

Wales 2.0% 5.5% 4.0% 3.0% 3.5% 19.3% 

Scotland 2.5% 5.0% 3.5% 2.5% 3.5% 18.2% 

Source: Savills using HM Land Registry and Registers of Scotland*, Nationwide (seasonally 
adjusted), ONS (seasonally adjusted) 

P
age 12



9

Operational environment

PRS average monthly rents
(1 April 2016 – 31 March 2017)

Chart 3

Private rented sector 
(PRS) 

Private rents have increased to an 
average of £757 per month – an 
increase from £679 per month the 
previous year in Salford.  Monthly 
rent prices in Greater Manchester are 
higher than in the North West, but 

lower than England as a whole. The 
mean monthly rent within Greater 
Manchester is £628, compared to 
£584 in the North West and £852 
in England as a whole. The upper 
quartile rent in Greater Manchester 
is £700, which is still significantly 
lower than the England mean rent. 
The upper quartile rent in the North 

West is £650 and £950 in England 
as a whole. The average price in 
England is inflated due to high rents 
in London. See Chart 3, below left.

Nationally, private rents being paid 
have remained flat for the last three 
months recording annual growth of 
1.8% across Great Britain, according 
to the ONS index. Quarterly rental 
growth in London has slowed from 
0.7% in July 2016 to 0.1% in July 
2017. 

Construction

The results of the Q3 2018 RICS 
Construction and Infrastructure 
Market Survey point to a pick up in 
the pace of output growth across the 
sector.  Workload and employment 
expectations for the year ahead have 
eased but remain generally positive, 
with private housing reported the 
strongest rise in workloads with 30% 
more respondents citing an increase 

rather than a decrease (compared to 
25% in Q2). A soft patch was most 
observable in public housing where 
the pace of workloads slowed from 
+12% to 7%, but in time this should 
be supported by the lifting of the 
HRA borrowing cap that was recently 
announced by Theresa May. 

As the deadline for a Brexit 
withdrawal agreement nears, 
businesses express heightened 
unease particularly with regard to 
the recruitment and retention of 
skilled workers. This combined with 
higher costs and prices and financial 
constraints .(access to bank finance, 
credit cash flow and liquidity) are 
reported as challenges to  building 
activity and this has had an impact 
upon profit margins  In terms of 
geographical breakdown, workloads 
are now reported to be increasing 
across all regions, with a notable 
acceleration in the midlands and 
east. 

P
age 13



10

Operational environment
Economy

Based upon information from 
the Bank of England, Office for 
Budget Responsibility (OBR) and 
the Chancellors Autumn Budget in 
summary the growth forecast for 
2018 has been downgraded to 1.3% 
from 1.5% in March, due to impact 
of bad Spring weather.  However, the 
forecast for 2019 raised from 1.3% 
to 1.6% and annual forecasts raised 
to 1.4%, 1.4%, 1.5% and 1.6% in 2020, 
2021, 2022 and 2023 respectively.  
There are also 3.3 million more 

people in work since 2010 and 
800,000 more jobs forecast by 2022.  
High levels of employment means 
there is less surplus capacity in the 
economy, resulting in higher demand 
for labour and wage growth rising 
at its highest in nearly a decade.  
Productivity remains a challenge and 
Inflation is higher than 2% (Bank of 
England target).  Due to the above, 
the Bank of England expects to 
increase gradually interest rates, 
however all forecasts are subject to 
the unknown outcomes of the Brexit 
negotiations. 

P
age 14



11

Operational environment
Policy landscape

Government policy is generally 
supportive of private sector 
led housing growth and owner 
occupation and private rented 
delivery as shown through capital 
grants and loans including: Build 
to Rent, use of public sector land 
and assets to bring forward sites, 
(eg Starter Homes, Accelerated 
Construction programme, 
One Public Estate and Greater 
Manchester Housing Investment 
Fund) and supporting demand 
and sales through Help to Buy.  
This has been shown again in the 
Governments November Autumn 
Budget with £500m for the Housing 
Infrastructure Fund, designed to 
enable a further 650,000 homes to 
be built and guarantees of up to £1bn 
for smaller house-builders.  This is 
in addition to previously announced 
funding commitments.  

Since 2010 affordable housing 
policy has focused upon affordable 
home ownership and alternative 
rent options, including affordable 
rent, rent to buy and as noted in 
the Planning White Paper “private 
affordable rent”.  However, a shift in 
policy seems to gathering pace with 
the Government recognising and 
identifying high affordability areas, 
providing more financial support 
towards supporting “traditional” 
rented accommodation (social 
and affordable rent) including 
new partnerships with housing 
associations in England to deliver 
13,000 homes, support for more 
active council roles in housing 
delivery and increased flexibilities 
with the removal of HRA borrowing 
cap.  There have also been 
significant policy changes around 
Welfare Reform in particular around 
Universal Credit and social housing 
policy that impacts upon housing 
need.  

In summary housing is continuing to 
be a more politically sensitive issue.  
There is clear and significant support 
for housing growth and to support 
the private house building industry.  
There is a wider approach to 
affordable housing (including social 
and affordable rent, affordable home 
ownership).  There also appears to be 
a recognition of challenges that face 
tenants (inc private and affordable) 
and homeowners.  This continues to 
provide a positive environment and 
opportunity for Dérive.

Key points
• Salfords growing 
• House prices and private rents 

are rising
• Housing delivery expectations 

are positive
• There are skills shortages and 

access to finance are challenges
• There are high levels of 

employment and the economy is 
growing

• The Government is supportive of 
private sector housing delivery, 
including affordable housing 

• There are challenges and 
uncertainty ahead especially 
due to Brexit, and there are 
opportunities for Dérive 

P
age 15



12

New housing delivery outcomes
Setting up a company from scratch 
is challenging, so our focus in the 
first year has been on establishing 
the business and working with 
experienced partners to deliver homes.  
This second Business Plan builds on 
the success and experiences of the 

previous one and commits to supplying 
approximately 117 homes (76% 
increase on the first Business Plan) 
across 6 sites (first three schemes from 
original Business Plan) for households 
in housing need and on low incomes up 
to 2023/24. See Table 5 below.  

As well as supplying homes to meet 
housing need, (including homeless 
households) housing delivery provides 
a range of other positive outcomes.  
These are estimated below in Table 6 
alongside the original Business Plan 
and this new Business Plan:

Table 5

Year/Schemes 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Duchy - 8 - - -

Ctown2* 20 - - - -

Site A - 10 12 9 10

Site B - 10 - - -

Site C - 8 - - -

Site D - - 30 - -

Year Total 20 36 42 9 10

 Cumulative 20 56 98 107 117

*Charlestown Phase 2

Table 6

Outcome Old New Increase

Increase in residential spend £570k £1m £430k (75%)

Jobs / Created / Sustained 136 192 56 (41%)

Training opportunities/  apprenticeships 8 16 8 (100%)

P
age 16



13

New housing delivery outcomes
These 117 homes are expected to be 
new build and delivered by partners, 
but we are aware of the need to be 
flexible and pragmatic to changes in 
circumstances and be able to exploit 
opportunities to help achieve the 
company’s growing aspirations.  This 
growth could also be in the form of 
securing existing built stock.  

Affordable housing needs subsidy, 
currently from its owner Salford 
City Council and overtime as Dérive 
grows and increases its capacity 
it will become more self financing.  
However, it is also appropriate for 
Dérive to look at other opportunities 
to support growth and become more 
self financing sooner.  One way is 
to look at directly delivering homes 
for sale, whose profits / surplus’s 

generate capital subsidy to finance 
the affordable homes.  However, 
development is complex, challenging 
and comes with its own opportunities 
and risks.  As a small and growing 
organisation, Dérive needs to 
make sure that it considers these 
issues appropriately and grows in a 
sustainable and viable fashion.  

As such over the last 12 months we 
have been looking at appropriate 
options to develop the right cross 
subsidy model and opportunities to 
achieve this.  This is very complex, 
technical and requires specialist 
advice and support; this Business 
Plan commits further resource to this 
with a view for finalising this approach 
over 2019/20.  

Dérive will 
deliver:
• 117 homes for households in 

housing need
• 192 jobs created / sustained
• 16 training opportunities
• Increase in residential spending 

of circa £1m 

It is looking at options to deliver 
homes directly to support future 
growth

P
age 17



14

It is anticipated that delivery of these 
initial units will be funded through 
a combination of Dérive borrowing 
(repaid over thirty years through the 
rental income generated from the 
homes calculated on a site by site 
basis) and subsidy from the council 
through capital grant (in part funded 
from available affordable housing 

commuted sums). It is the intention 
that Dérive borrowing will be 
provided by the council at a state aid 
compliant interest rate. The overall 
cost of the units is estimated to be 
£15.814m (including stamp duty) 
which will be incurred over a 6 year 
period as the units are delivered. 

Financial forecast
Capital expenditure

Table 7

Total £m

Capital Expenditure £15.814

Funded by:

Borrowing £4.847

Council Subsidy (Grant) £10.967

Total £15.814

It is currently anticipated that a 
deposit payment will be required for 
all the units, with a potential further 
payment when they reach slab level 
and balance on completion and 
handover to Dérive. The Council 
funding from loan and grant will be 
drawn down by Dérive in line with the 
spend profile for capital expenditure 

for these units and schemes. Table 7 
below shows the anticipated capital 
spend profile for these units over the 
next 6 years.

P
age 18



15

Revenue forecasts of income and 
expenditure for each of the four sites 
have been prepared, to establish their 
viability and confirm the level of Dérive 
borrowing they can each support. 
These individual appraisals have 
then been consolidated in a 30 year 
financial forecast, an extract of which 
is detailed in Table 8.

Financial forecast
Revenue cashflow

Table 8

Year Commencing
01 April 2019 01 April 2020 01 April 2021 01 April 2022 01 April 2023 01 April 2048

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 30
£ £ £ £ £ £

Income  
Rent Band A - 1 bed apartment 0 11,143 11,421 40,975 41,999 77,864
Rent Band A - 2 bed apartment 0 6,555 6,719 6,887 7,059 13,087
Rent Band A - 2 bed 22,942 70,546 76,786 122,144 133,573 321,649
Rent Band A - 3 bed 14,567 77,844 140,498 211,051 231,376 503,660
Rent Band A - 4 bed - 8,288 16,990 17,415 17,850 33,093
Rent Band B - 1 bed apartment - 7,951 8,150 29,237 29,968 55,558
Rent Band B - 2 bed apartment - 4,677 4,794 4,914 5,037 9,338
Rent Band B - 2 bed 26,722 51,453 55,962 88,581 104,154 254,582
Rent Band B - 3 bed 23,280 47,912 68,766 123,228 160,176 356,647
Rent Band B - 4 bed - 13,197 27,053 27,729 28,423 52,694
Total income 87,511 281,867 398,998 624,299 710,556 1,587,221
Voids allowance 1,969 6,342 8,977 14,047 15,988 55,553
Net Income  85,542 275,525 390,021 610,252 694,568 1,531,669

P
age 19



16

Revenue cashflow
Financial forecast

Year Commencing
01 April 2019 01 April 2020 01 April 2021 01 April 2022 01 April 2023 01 April 2048

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 30
£ £ £ £ £ £

Income 85,542 275,525 390,021 610,252 694,568 1,531,669

Management Costs 22,300 56,649 73,353 119,134 133,995 425,432
Irrecoverable VAT at 20% 4,460 11,330 14,671 23,827 26,799 85,086
Loan (interest) 28,980 89,083 131,225 203,138 223,204 30,103
Net income before tax 29,802 118,463 170,773 264,153 310,569 991,047
Corporation tax 5,662 22,508 32,447 50,189 59,008 188,299
Depreciation 20,000 62,008 92,233 145,233 161,567 161,567
Net Surplus/Deficit 4,139 33,947 46,092 68,730 89,995 641,181
Retained Surplus 4,139 38,086 84,178 152,909 242,903 7,224,286
Opening Debt Outstanding - 2,177,000 2,744,257 4,298,074 4,715,565 830,466
Debt Repaid - 22,743 36,184 72,508 83,158 313,814
Outstanding Balance - 2,154,257 2,708,074 4,225,565 4,632,407 516,652

The above forecast in Table 9 shows 
relatively small surpluses generated 
in the first two years, which then 
increase as more units come on 
stream, with an estimated retained 
surplus at the end of year 5 of 
approximately £242k. These forecasts 
are based on a number of financial 
assumptions including initial rent 
levels, void levels, inflation and tax (a 

full list is included at Annex 1) which 
will be reviewed and updated on an 
annual basis. 
Peak loans debt on these units is 
£4.6m in year 5 and this will then 
fall across the remaining years until 
full repayment is made 30 years 
after draw down each loan.  Note 
that within the forecast a significant 
amount of depreciation is included. 

This is because although from 
a financial reporting standpoint 
rental property is generally viewed 
as Investment Property based 
on being leased at market rates, 
under affordable social housing 
rental agreements the treatment is 
different. This is because the return 
offered is not deemed to be at a level 
that would constitute investment 

income and the properties are 
therefore ranked as Housing Stock. 
The accounting treatment requires 
that items of property, plant and 
equipment are depreciated over the 
useful life of that asset hence why 
Dérive has to carry property assets 
on this basis.

The above financial forecasts do not 
take into account costs / income 
associated with Dérives desire to 
undertake housing delivery directly at 
this stage, although initial high level 
appraisal’s of financial implications 
have been undertaken which will be 
further developed over the next 12 
months.    

Table 9

P
age 20



17

Operational Budget:
Financial forecast

This Business Plan will be 
implemented by a funded working 
capital based on forecasts of income 
and expenditure identified above 
plus an assumed level of operational 
capital of circa £100k a year to pump 
prime Dérive.  The requirement for 
an initial working capital injection 
into Dérive of circa £227k is clear 
given the small initial returns / 
surpluses generated in the early 
years of the plan and the need to 
develop the business over this period.  
This is a short term plan and the 
current structure, management and 
resources required reflect this.  

The 3 year Dérive budget is detiled 
in Table 10. This table and the others 
above show that initial council 
support to pump prime Dérive is in 
place, but over the medium to long 
term the intention is that Dérive will 

become a successful more self 
financing affordable housing business 
that maximises affordable housing 
delivery, with more limited long term 
support from the council.  
There is flexibility for further growth 
in this Business Plan, but for a new 
and growing company it is important 
to ensure that the appropriate 
opportunities, sites and models are 
clearly identified, assessed and are 
deliverable in the local market in an 
appropriate manner.  

Moving forward, regular reviews will 
be undertaken as part of the Business 
Plan development cycle that will 
ensure learning is embedded, that the 
company is appropriately resourced 
and has [access to the] the right 
expertise and capacity to meet the 
aims and objectives of Dérive and its 
owner, the people of Salford.

Table 10

Dérive three year budget projection
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

£ £ £

Income (rents and working capital injection)

Total income 59,000 178,541 351,125

Expenditure (including management, maintenance, insurance)

Direct property costs

Total - 19,760 43,579

Running costs (including staffing/professional fees, insurance, audit/tax advice)

Total 59,000 100,000 100,000

Overheads

Bank charges/loan interest - 28,980 89,083

Depreciation - 20,000 62,008

Corporation tax - 5,662 22,508

Total - 54,642 173,599

Total expenditure 59,000 174,402 317,178

Surplus/(deficit) for the year - 4,139 33,947

Carry forward - 4,139 38,086

P
age 21



18

Financial assumptions 
and sensitivity analysis
The financial model supporting 
the Dérive Business Plan is based 
upon a detailed assessment of both 
capital and revenue income and 
expenditure.  Adjustment has been 
made for known external influences 
and inflationary adjustment for 
relevant costs.

Currently there is a surplus of £242k 
after the first 5 years and £7.224m 
over a thirty year period. This is 
a significant positive.  Sensitivity 
analysis has been undertaken on 
somekey components for changes to 
interest rates, rents and voids. Table 
11 shows the impact of these.  

Please note that at present there 
are no sales risks in the schemes 
identified, as Dérive at present is not 
a developer, but these risks will be 
assessed as part of the modelling 
and options going forward.

This analysis and these assumptions 
have been assessed using 
independent, external and internal 
consultants.  This includes tax, 

Table 11

Ctown2* Duchy A B C D Total Current Difference

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Rent Increase 1.5% 

Surplus at year 5 86,210 31,744 34,064 9,124 7,994 -4,156 164,980 242,903 -77,923

Surplus at year 30 1,653,947 241,539 953,014 102,246 -91,117 -185,157 2,674,472 7,224,286 -4,549,814

Rent Increase 3.5%

Surplus at year 5 137,001 45,322 84,472 22,225 16,596 18,788 324,404 242,903 81,501

Surplus at year 30 5,873,380 827,268 4,218,196 674,660 330,846 1,446,528 13,370,878 7,224,286 6,146,592

Interest Rate Reduction  
to 2.83%

Surplus at year 5 171,424 55,695 136,783 39,587 26,522 43,288 473,299 242,903 230,396

Surplus at year 30 3,567,374 606,177 3,077,609 485,190 170,954 879,754 8,787,058 7,224,286 1,562,772

Interest Rate Increase  
to 6.83%

Surplus at year 5 49,400 21,044 19,335 -8,727 -2,329 -30,062 48,661 242,903 -194,242

Surplus at year 30 3,004,066 404,948 1,916,145 219,223 17,991 172,057 5,734,430 7,224,286 -1,489,856

*Charlestown Phase 2

legal, financial, property and other 
advice.  As a result we believe we 
have the ability and capacity to 
meet the demands ahead. This is 

based on a sound track record of 
working innovatively in partnership 
with others, delivering change and 
improving services.  This Business 

Plan is knowledge and evidence 
based and has been developed using 
robust information and assumptions 
from a variety of sources.

P
age 22



19

Risks and
management
Dérive’s Risk Register shows the 
risks that might affect its Business 
Plan.  The risks on the Dérive 
Business Plan in summary are: 

• Legal – inc national legislative / 
policy changes 

• Financial – inc funding, 
competing [Council] land and 
capital receipts requirements  

• Operational – inc Dérive not 
seen as positive partner by key 
stakeholders 

All have actions which monitor and 
minimise the impact and chances of 
these risks occurring within the risk 
register.  These are shown in detail 
Annex 2 Table 13.

Key points
• Range of assumptions, risks and challenges have been considered with 

actions in place to manage them

P
age 23



20

Conclusion
Dérive has spent its first full year 
of operation establishing itself, 
embedding governance, systems and 
processes, procuring and securing 
appropriate support, working with 
partners to identify appropriate 
opportunities to deliver its Business 
Plan in a sustainable and viable 
manner.  From this solid foundation, 
the fruits are starting to appear 
with the first homes expected to be 
delivered and ready for handover 
and occupation in April 2019 – just 
12 months after approving its first 
Business Plan and starting to operate 
as a business!  

This new Business Plan with its 
commitment to deliver 117 homes, 
builds on the experience, learning and 
track record of the past 12 months 
and shows that Dérive can achieve 

its aims and objectives of supplying 
homes to meet need for Salford in 
a financially secure and sustainable 
manner.  

A lot of learning has taken place and 
further work is to be undertaken 
to ensure the delivery and 
implementation of this new Business 
Plan and three year Budget.  The main 
risks have been identified, including 
legislative changes, financial and 
operational, but the council is strongly 
committed to Dérive, there is an 
established Board and experienced 
officer support and mitigation actions 
have been put in place.

There is a strong business case to 
seek to provide housing to meet 
local needs that builds on the strong 
and innovative approaches that 

are already in place in Salford.  The 
environment for Dérive to operate 
within in the current housing market 
is very strong.  Dérive at present 
is operating as a landlord in effect, 
but has aspirations to grow and 
effectively become a small local 
development company with the 
significant advantage in having 
council-owned land opportunities to 
develop, with financial support from 
the council to undertake housing 
development.  

There are clearly challenges to meet 
and there are also great opportunities 
to build on the unique characteristics 
and drive of the people of Salford.  
This is an exciting time for Salford 
and Dérive.

Key points
• We have ambitious aims and 

objectives
• We have a resourced, balanced 

and costed robust plan and 
budget

P
age 24



21

Annex 1: Financial assumptions
These financial assumptions are detailed below:

* Salford Local Housing Allowance as 
at April 2017.
** Social rent (target) using 
government rent setting formula back 
dated to 1999 figures as at April 2017.  

Table 12

Weekly Rents 1 April 2019 prices

Rent Band A

1 Bed Apartment £104.53

2 Bed Apartment £122.98

2 Bed £126.05

3 Bed £136.65

4 Bed £155.49

Rent Band B

1 Bed Apartment £74.59

2 Bed Apartment £87.75

2 Bed £89.94

3 Bed £100.27

4 Bed £123.80

• Assumed / estimated price of units 
on schemes (as at February 2019)

• £500 per unit company flat running 
cost per annum

• Loan rate interest of 4.83% at State 
Aid compliant rate

• Loan costs include capital and 
interest payments

• 30 year loan period
• Cost inflation 2.5% (from April 18)
• Assumption of Corporation Tax of 

19% used 
• SDLT on purchase of the units 

included
• All VAT on services irrecoverable 
• Housing managment costs using 

procured values in 2018
• Creation of Life Cycle fund from 

year 6

• 52 week annual rental period 
• Salford Rents will be charged.  On 

sites these will use 50/50 ratio of 
Rent Band A* and Rent Band B** 
(see table 12 below)

• Rental increase from 2018 based 
upon 2.5%

• Future rental increase based upon 
CPI assuming rate of 2.5% per 
annum 

• Payment phasing for schemes as 
agreed

• Unconfirmed schemes assumes 
• 10% upfront payment with final 

payment on completion
• Service charge to be included

P
age 25



22

Annex 2: Risk register – Table 13
Activity Risk Likelihood 

(1-low, 5 high) Potential Impact Mitigation 

Legal/Political 

Poor performance of regulatory 
bodies, e.g. gas safety 1 • Reputational impact

• Additional costs to rectify, claims from tenants
• Ensure relationships are managed with 

regulatory bodies

National policy/laws changes that 
affect the operational environment 
and business model for Dérive

3 • Viability of the business plan at risk

• Lobbying of central government to ensure 
policy changes do not hinder the main 
objectives of the housing company, where 
possible

Financial

Land values below forecasts 3
• Some land has a value and this could impact 

upon development (use of capital receipt to 
off set council resources

• Robust site investigations
• Identification of alternative capital  and 

potential government funding (eg land 
remediation funding) 

Dérive inability to secure, or has 
delays in receiving council support 
and assistance (inc land) for 
pipeline of sites, funding/resourcing

1 • Delay in delivery
• Financial impact on Dérive

• Work with Council to identify appropriate 
sites, support, funding and resources

• Secure appropriate specialist advice

Non performance of third parties 2

• Delays to programme
• Reputational impact as Salford City Council 

properties
• Additional cost to compensate tenants

• Clear contracts with third parties inc 
housing management provider and 
performance measures

Inadequate tenancy management 1
• Reduction in quality of sustainable 

regeneration
• Adverse publicity from tenant complaints

• Clear contract with housing management 
provider with appropriate performance KPIs 
and means of enforcement

Inadequate maintenance and 
management 1

• The condition and value of the assets is less 
than anticipated at the end of the funding 
term, meaning the ability to generate a 
long term income stream for the council is 
reduced

• Additional costs incurred in improving units

• Focus on new build means there should be 
less maintenance and management issues 

• Contract with maintenance provider
• Regular monitoring of work
• Schedule of major works maintained

P
age 26



23

Activity Risk Likelihood 
(1-low, 5 high) Potential Impact Mitigation 

Financial continued

Development ambitions and 
process not sufficiently clear and 
robust leading to poor financial 
planning and cash flow estimates, 
and lax cost control

1 • Viability of the business plan at risk

• Work with council to identify appropriate 
sites

• Use robust financial planning, cashflow 
and cost controls 

Skills and experience of the 
Dérive Board fails to match the 
requirements to deliver the business 
plan 

1 • Viability of the business plan at risk
• Reduced ability to reach ambitions

• Review board and skills annually as part of 
Business plan development process

Insufficient staff resources/capacity 
available/weak staff skill set 1 • Viability of the business plan at risk

• Reduced ability to reach ambitions
• Review board and skills annually as part of 

business plan development process

Decline in sales values of market 
units 2 • Loss or delay in sales receipts

• Assumed population growth for Salford 
mitigates low demand for sale units

• Method for choosing sites to sit with 
company based on business plan

Lack of realistic demand 1

• Loss of rental income
• Potential blight of the development as properties 

wait to be tenanted
• Delay in construction programme
• Development might generate very little cross 

subsidy from build for sale to affordable housing

• Length of waiting list would suggest low 
risk of low demand for rented homes

• Assumed population growth for Salford 
mitigates low demand for sale units

• Method for choosing sites to sit with 
company based on business plan

Competing [council] land and capital 
receipts requirements  3 • Viability of the business plan at risk

• Reduced ability to reach ambitions

• Lobby Salford City Council 
• Develop and deliver a robust Business 

Plan to develop creditability 

Cost of finance 1 • Delays in construction 
• Inability to meet ambition

• Lobby Salford City Council 
• Develop and deliver a robust business 

plan to develop creditability

Delays in securing or securing 
appropriate level of funding 2

• Viability of business plan
• Inability to deliver scale of ambition
• Negative perception amongst partners

• Ensure robust business case and 
Business Plan development

• Secure appropriate external expert advice 
and capacity

Inflation 3
• Mismatch in cost inflation and sales/income 

rates of inflation, might increase funding 
requirement

• Ensure robust inflation assumptions in 
financial modelling

Rental incomes doesn’t keep pace 
with costs 3

• Rental income does not increase in line with CPI 
+ 1% as expected, therefore impacting on the 
ability of the Company to service is debt and 
overall viability

• Ensure robust and realistic assumptions 
in financial model

P
age 27



24

Activity Risk Likelihood 
(1-low, 5 high) Potential Impact Mitigation 

Technical/
operational

Dérive not seen as positive partner 
by key stakeholders, including the 
Council

2 • Viability of business plan
• Inability to deliver scale of ambition

• Ensure robust business case and Business 
Plan development

• Appropriately resource / support Dérive

Delays in securing planning 2 • Inability to deliver scale of ambition
• Delays in delivery

• Ensure robust pre app 
• Ensure appropriate resourced Dérive
• Maintain positive relationships with 

Planning

Procurement delays 2 • Inability to deliver scale of ambition
• Delays in delivery

• Ensure appropriate resourced Dérive
• Maintain positive relationships with 

Procurement

Build costs higher (staffing, land, 
materials, remediation) 2

• Costly to amend
• Delays in delivery 
• Inability to deliver scale of ambition

• Robust contract in place with developer / 
contractor / partner

Delays in handovers 2
• Loss of revenue
• Increased costs (for those in temporary 

accommodation) 

• Robust contract in place with developer / 
contractor

Not securing building control 
approval 2 • Costly to amend/rectify

• Reputationally negative
• Ensure appropriate Building Control 

engagement 

Aspirational design that negatively 
affect the business plan 2

• Costly to administer 
• Delays to delivery
• Impact on viability of the business plan

• Clear scale and scope principles 
established

• Clear and financially assessed design brief 

P
age 28



 1

 Part 1 - Open to the Public 
 

 

 
 

 
REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE 

 
 

TO GROWTH & PROSPERITY SCRUTINY PANEL 
ON 20TH MAY 2019

 
 
TITLE:  THE HIGHWAYS INVESTMENT PROGRAMME (HIP) -CAPITAL BUDGET    
2019/20 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
 That the Growth & Prosperity Scrutiny Panel comments on the proposed programmes 

of work for the Highways Investment Programme (HIP) for 2019/20, as outlined in the 
report, and notes that the report will then be submitted to the City Mayor for approval.   

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 

The provision for the Highway Investment Programme funding for 2019/20 has been 
confirmed as £2,000,000.  The budget apportionments outlined in the report, and 
detailed within the background document, outline the 2019/20 scheme proposals as 
part of the ongoing Network Recovery Programme.   

 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 
 

Appendix A Highway Investment Programme- List of Provisional Schemes 2019/20 
 

 
KEY DECISION:  
 

Yes: All Wards affected 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4



 2

DETAILS: 
 
1. The Highway Investment Programme 
 
1.1 The Capital allocation for highway structural maintenance during 2020/19 has been 

specified as £2,000,000. 

1.2 Salford City Council implemented a Network Recovery Plan (delivered through the 
Highway Investment Programme) in 2009/10. This was implemented to arrest the 
deterioration of the highway network initially and to enable the Council to tackle the 
critical sections of highway thereafter. 

1.3 Since it’s commencement in 2009/10, the Network Recovery Plan has seen an 
improvement in overall carriageway and footway condition, across all classifications of 
the adopted highway network, as shown in Tables 1 and 2 below. 

 
% of classification within each category                                          Target %age 

Classification 
 
Rating 

2010-
11 

2011-
121 

2012-
132 

2013-
14 

2014-
15 

2015-
16 

2016-
17 

2017-
18 

2018-
19* 

2019-
20 

2020-
21 

 

All Roads 

 red 9.3 8.4 3.1 6.4 7.8 4.4 4.8 4.8 6 8.2 10.1 

 amber 10.5 10.2 4.7 4.8 5 11.2 11.8 11.7 13 14.4 15.1 

 yellow 37.6 35.7 9.5 12.9 14 25.2 27.8 29.2 27.2 25.8 25.2 

 green 42.6 45.7 82.7 75.9 73.2 59.2 55.6 54.3 53.8 51.6 49.6 
Table 1 – Carriageway Condition Index Summary 

 (The Highway Improvement Programme commenced in 2009/10) 

*Targets are aspirational figures that are reviewed  each year based on previous year’s results and are  not 
projections. These will vary based on levels of inv estment and these are therefore currently affected by the 
investment levels provided which is less than the i nvestment requested . 

 

 

Condition 
category 

% of classification within each category   
2010-

11 
2011-

12 
2012-

13 
2013-

14 
2014-

15 
2015-

16 
2016-

17 
2017-

18 
2018-
19* 

2019-
20 

2020-
21 

red       2 1.4 2 2 3.4 3.6 4 4.4 

amber       19.6 14.2 16 17 17.9 18.4 18.7 19 

yellow       57 50.4 61 60 43 42.9 42.7 42.5 

green       21.4 34 21 21 35.7 35.1 34.6 34.1 
Table 2 – Footway Condition Index Summary 

(The Highway Improvement Programme commenced in 2009/10) 

*Targets are aspirational figures that are reviewed  each year based on previous year’s results and are  not 
projections. These will vary based on levels of inv estment and these are therefore currently affected by the 
investment levels provided which is less than the i nvestment requested . 

 

 

Page 30



 3

1.4 Due to the reduced funding from 2018/19, the request put forward for funding for 2019/20 
was £3.8million however the allocation has been provided at £2.0million. This is likely to 
result in deterioration of the network due to this lower level of funding provision. However it 
should be noted that there will still be some benefit provided by historic funding levels. The 
targets for steady state are based on this year’s funding provision of £2.0million. 

 

1.5 The anticipated rise in the percentage of critical carriageways is due to the acquisition 
of former housing roads that are in a relatively poor condition. In addition, some of the 
early Micro Asphalt treatments that were applied at the start of the Highway 
Investment Programme are now reaching the end of their projected lifecycle and are 
showing signs of deterioration.   

 

1.6 The reduction in funding since 2016/17 is indicated in Table 3 below. This too has had 
an impact on the condition indices. The aspirational targets have therefore been 
adjusted to reflect this lower investment going forward. The figures provided in Table 3 
below indicate the amount of funding requested in the Gateway bid for each year 
since 2016/17, the actual allocation provided and the difference. 

Gateway Bids  Requested   Provided Difference  

2016/17    £4,800,000.00     £3,400,000.00  

 

£1,600,000.00 

2017/18    £5,300,000.00     £3,820,000.00  

 

£1,480,000.00 

 

2018/19    £3,800,000.00     £1,500,000.00  

 

£2,300,000.00 

  

2019/20    £3,800,000.00    £2,000,000.00 

 

£1,800,000.00 

           

Table 3 Gateway Bids and allocations 

 

1.7 As the Network Recovery programme has progressed the type of work proposed has 
moved toward dealing with critical condition carriageways (red) and selected areas of 
critical footways.  

1.8 In summary the proposed apportionment of available funding for 2019/20 is outlined 
below in Table 4 below. 

 

 Table 4- Apportionment of funding Highway Investment Programme 2018/19. 

 
Work Element 

 
Allocation 

  

Carriageway Refurbishment -Surface Inlay/repairs 
 

            £1,050,000 

Footway Refurbishment – Surface Inlay/Treatment 
 

             £   950,000 

                  Total Capital Provision         £2,000,000 

Page 31



 4

 

1.9  A breakdown of the cost of these proposed works is as shown in Tables 5a-5b below. 

       

Table 5a-Breakdown of costs 

             

Work Element  (£) Total (£)  
   

Carriageway Surf ace Surface Inlay /Treatment :   
Direct Works Cost  682,531.00 

Depot Overheads (17.55%)* 119,784.19 802,315.19 
Depot Profit (8.15%) 65,388.69 867,703.88 

   
Total Construction Costs   867,703.88 

   
                                                      Design Fee (5%) 43,385.19 43,385.19 
                                               Supervision Fee (0%)   
   

                              Professional Fees  43,385.19 
   

Scheme Delivery Cost and Fees  911,089.07 
   

Profit Difference (13%-8.15%) depot works costs 0.0485 38,912.29 
   
   

Total Budget for programme   £950,001.36 
Table 5b - Breakdown of Costs 

*Please note that the specified overhead figures ar e provisional percentages and are subject to 
final approval from Salford City Council   

Work Element  (£) Total (£)  
   
Carriageway Refurbishment -Surface Inlay/Repairs :   

Direct Works Cost  754,375.00 
Depot Overheads (17.55%)* 132,392.81 886,767.81 

Depot Profit (8.15%) 72,271.58 959,039.39 
   

Total Construction Costs   959,039.39 
   

                                                      Design Fee (5%) 47,951.97 47,951.97 
                                               Supervision Fee (0%)   
   

                              Professional Fees  47,951.97 
   

Scheme Delivery Cost and Fees  1,006,991.36 
   

Profit Difference (13%-8.15%) depot works costs 0.0485 43,008.24 
   
   

Total Budget for programme   £1,049,999.60 

Page 32



 5

1.11 Appendix A  provides details of the provisional list of schemes for the Highway 
Investment Programme for 2019/20. It is a comprehensive list that exceeds the budget 
allocation. The list has been produced from existing proposals that were already 
included in the Highway Investment Programme, new schemes added through survey 
data, recommendations from Highway Inspectors and requests from elected members 
and community representatives and highway condition survey data. They have been 
assessed and prioritised for suitability and categorised in the treatment type based on 
engineering assessments. 

1.12   Further engineering assessment, early contractor involvement along with current 
survey data and will determine the finalised scheme details.  

1.13  Scheme progress will be presented through monthly Briefing Notes presented to the 
Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable Development. The Briefing Notes shall 
commence in July 2019 outlining schemes and progress to date. Condition Index 
information as shown in Tables 1 and 2 together with associated summary plans can 
also be presented as updated survey information becomes available. 

 
 
KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

Enhancing Life in Salford, Think Efficiency, Improving the Environment 

 
 
 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 
 

Better maintained footways and carriageways make it easier for less able bodied and 
visually impaired people, to move around the City.  The scheme proposals as outlined 
have been made in an attempt to ensure the continued safe movement of the 
travelling public.  The budget proposals and apportionments are not intended to be 
discriminatory. The works being undertaken will have a positive impact on all equality 
groups. With regard to footway refurbishment, the installation of tactile paving and 
dropped kerbs at junctions will provide safe places to cross the road for those less 
able bodied or visually impaired and the elderly. By planning and programming work 
around religious holidays we can enhance good relations with the affected 
communities in a positive way.  
 

 
 
ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  
 

Low – The targeted spend of available funding will ensure that the City Council’s 
statutory obligations are met while at the same time facilitating continuous 
improvement of the highway infrastructure. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



 6

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Azra Furheen, - Physical Infrastructure Group, tel. 0161 
234 4173.  
 
Date: 23rd April 2019 
 

Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 places the Highways Authority under a duty to 
maintain a highway, and maintenance is therefore a statutory requirement. 
 
The proposals in the report for highway maintenance, once finalised scheme details 
within each of the specified categories of work have been submitted, will strengthen 
the Council’s position in defending 3rd party highway/tripping claims. Whilst it is legally 
accepted that it is not possible to maintain the highway completely free of all defects, 
section 58 of the Highways Act 1980 provides a possible defence to a claim if it can 
adequately show that there was a sufficiently robust regime in place to inspect and 
maintain the highway provided it is adequately carried out and the Council had no 
prior knowledge of the defect before an alleged incident. 
 
Once works have been carried out in accordance with the schemes referred to the 
Council will be better placed to either repudiate more third party claims entirely or 
reduce the level of damages payable should settlement be deemed appropriate. 
 
When commissioning contracts for the procurement of goods, services or works the 
City Council must comply with the requirements of the EU public procurement 
Directives which have been implemented into UK law by regulations. Further, the 
Council must comply with its Contractual Standing Orders and Financial Regulations. 
Depending on the value of the works to be undertaken as part of the HIP, Urban 
Vision may be instructed to carry out such works in accordance with the exclusivity 
terms in the Development Services Partnering Agreement, or the Council’s framework 
agreement for Civil and Highways Engineering may be used. Should the value of such 
works exceed £100,000, a separate report will need to be presented to Procurement 
Board for decision.  
 

 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:  Alison Woods, Finance Officer (Capital), Tel. 925 
1135.  
 
Date: 23rd April 2019 
 

There is sufficient funding within the approved 2019/20 Highways Capital Investment 
Programme, to fund the £2.000m works identified within this report.  
 
Close monitoring of expenditure will be necessary to ensure that the proposed 
schemes are delivered within the approved budget allocations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



 7

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Christine Flisk, Procurement Manager ext 
6245.  
Date:23rd April 2019 
 

Urban Vision Partnership was procured through a fully compliant OJEU procurement 
process and is in contract with the council until 2020. The exclusivity agreement with 
Urban Vision Partnership for delivering Highway services is in place to deliver works to 
under the DSPA agreement to a value of £140k.  A variation to the DSPA can be 
made with agreement by both parties.   All works above the agreed threshold will be 
procured in line with CSO’s from February 2020.  The procurement team will work 
closely with UV and will endeavour to facilitate a smooth transition back into the 
council 

 
 
HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: 
 

Not applicable for this report. 
 

 
OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: 

Urban Vision Partnership Ltd 
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Steve Mangan TEL NO: 0161 603 4034 

 
 
WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES:  
 

All Wards
 

Page 35



Appendix A Highway Investment Programme- List of Provisional Schemes 2019/20 

 

Candidate Schemes from SANNER surveys 2017-2019 

    Classified and Key Route Network Carriageway Inlays 

    
Road 

Road 

No 
Extent Neighbourhood 

Bentcliffe Way A57 Lane End - Barton Lane Eccles 

Irwell Place A57 Church Street - Bentcliffe Way Eccles 

Barton Lane B5230 Bentcliffe Way - Barton Road Eccles 

Green Lane B5231 Rail bridge - motorway bridge Eccles 

Monton Road B5229 Monton Green - Wellington Road Eccles 

Worsley Road B5211 Motorway bridge - Slater Street Eccles 

Monton Green/Rocky Lane B5229 Monton Road - Highfield Road Eccles 

Great Clowes Street A5066 Silk Street - Broughton Lane East Salford 

East Ordsall Lane B5461 Middlewood Street - Stevenson Street East Salford 

Camp Street B6186 Lower Broughton Road to Broughton Lane East Salford 

Liverpool Road B5320 Tramway Road - Brinell Drive Irlam & Cadishead 

Cleggs Lane  A5082 Manchester Road to Bolton boundary Little Hulton & Walkden 

Manchester Road West A6 Boundary to Highfield Road Little Hulton & Walkden 

Manchester Road A6 Under motorway bridge to Mulgrave Street Swinton 

Bolton Road A666 Station Road - Oak St Swinton 

Bolton Road A666 Hospital Road to Oak St Swinton 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



Carriageway Refurbishment-Surface Inlay  2019/20 

  
 

Street Neighbourhood Area 
 

Graham Road Claremont & Weaste 
 

St Georges Crescent Claremont & Weaste 
 

Tootal Drive/Road Claremont & Weaste 
 

Manor Road Claremont & Weaste 
 

Meadowgate Road Claremont & Weaste 
 

Cholmondeley Road Claremont & Weaste 
 

Fairhope Avenue Claremont & Weaste 
 

Broad Street / Mat Joints Claremont & Weaste 
 

Dellcot Close Claremont & Weaste 
 

Castlewood Road East Salford 
 

Rosamund Drive East Salford 
 

Littleton Road East Salford 
 

Camp St  East Salford 
 

Grecian St East Salford 
 

Crescent East Salford 
 

Griffin Street East Salford 
 

Norwood Ave East Salford 
 

Portsmouth Close East Salford 
 

Westfield Street East Salford 
 

Cheltenham Street East Salford 
 

Wallness Lane East Salford 
 

Heaton Street East Salford 
 

Hazelmere Avenue Eccles 
 

Heys Close North Eccles 
 

Oakmere Avenue Eccles 
 

Church St Eccles 
 

College Croft Eccles 
 

Edison Road Eccles 
 

Foxhill Road Eccles 
 

Hampden Gr Eccles 
 

Hardy Street Eccles 
 

Lulworth Road Eccles 
 

O/S 782-784 L/pool Rd  Eccles 
 

Park Rd Eccles 
 

Parrin Lane jnc Worsley Rd Eccles 
 

Pine Grove Eccles 
 

Verdun Road Eccles 
 

Victoria Road  Eccles 
 

Weymouth Road Eccles 
 

Portland Road Eccles 
 

Worsley Rd  near Parrin Lane Eccles 
 

Page 37



Cutnook Lane Irlam & Cadishead 
 

Merlin Road Irlam & Cadishead 
 

Moss Meadow Road Irlam & Cadishead 
 

Roscoe Road Jnc Liverpool Rd Irlam & Cadishead 
 

Sorby Road Irlam & Cadishead 
 

Vicarage Road Irlam & Cadishead 
 

Victory Road/Kitchener Road Irlam & Cadishead 
 

Hilton Lane Little Hulton & Walkden 
 

Endfield Street Little Hulton & Walkden 
 

Hill Top Road Little Hulton & Walkden 
 

Queensway Little Hulton & Walkden 
 

Walter st Little Hulton & Walkden 
 

Westminster Road Little Hulton & Walkden 
 

Lester Road Little Hulton & Walkden 
 

Westwood Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 
 

Armitage Grove Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Captain fold Rd Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Eastham Way Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Eastham way jct ridyard st Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Ellesmere Close Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Highgate Lane Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Hulton Avenue Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Kenyon terrace Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Kenyon Way Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Old Lane Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Ridyard Street Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Alfred St  Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Caldy Road Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Chapelfield Drive Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Endsley Ave Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Laburnum Rd Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Manchester Road  Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Pinfold Rd Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Rands Clough Drive Little Hulton and Walkden 
 

Ashcroft Avenue Ordsall & Langworthy 
 

Chapel street/Trinity way jnc Ordsall & Langworthy 
 

Liverpool Street Ordsall & Langworthy 
 

Phoebe St (Speed humps) Ordsall & Langworthy 
 

Entwistle Street (Sindsley) Swinton 
 

Normanby Gr Swinton 
 

Normanby St Swinton 
 

Sindsley Rd Swinton 
 

Wentworth Road Swinton 
 

Beanfields Worsley & Boothstown 
 

Page 38



Calder drive Worsley & Boothstown 
 

Lumber Lane Worsley & Boothstown 
 

Mill Brow Worsley & Boothstown 
 

 

 

Footway Refurbishment - Micro Surface Treatment   2019/20 

  

Street  Neighbourhood Area 

Princeton Close Claremont & Weaste 

Ryecroft Avenue Claremont & Weaste 

James Corbett Road Claremont & Weaste 

Daniel Adamson Road Claremont & Weaste 

My Street Claremont & Weaste 

Worcester Steet East Salford 

Great Clowes Street East Salford 

Cobden Street East Salford 

Mona Street East Salford 

Suffolk Street East Salford 

Dunedin Drive East Salford 

Barnett Drive East Salford 

Arlington Street East Salford 

Lissadel Street East Salford 

Marlbourgh Road East Salford 

Radford Street East Salford 

Broom Lane East Salford 

Choir Street East Salford 

Gaskell Road Eccles 

Boardman Street Eccles 

Bradburn Street Eccles 

Park Road Eccles 

Old Wellington Road Eccles 

Francis Street Eccles 

Broad Oak Park Eccles 

Winster Road Eccles 

Vicars Street Eccles 

Chadwick Road Eccles 

Brookfield Road Eccles 

Ampney Close Eccles  Eccles 

Ivy Street Eccles 

Brereton grove Irlam & Cadishead 

Princes Avenue Irlam & Cadishead 

Calder Avenue, Irlam Irlam & Cadishead 

Page 39



Stuart Avenue, Irlam Irlam & Cadishead 

Lee Close, Irlam Irlam & Cadishead 

Ashawe Terrace Little Hulton & Walkden 

Ashawe Grove Little Hulton & Walkden 

Kenyon Way /Grove Little Hulton & Walkden 

Beech Grove Little Hulton & Walkden 

Hazel Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Newgate Drive Little Hulton & Walkden 

Spa Grove Little Hulton & Walkden 

Anchor Lane Little Hulton & Walkden 

Newcombe Drive Little Hulton & Walkden 

Dearden Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Broughton Ave Little Hulton & Walkden 

Kent Close Little Hulton & Walkden 

Greencourt Drive Little Hulton & Walkden 

Parkway Little Hulton & Walkden 

Kenyon Terrace Little Hulton & Walkden 

Hallstead Grove Little Hulton & Walkden 

Gorse Drive Little Hulton & Walkden 

Mossbrook Drive Little Hulton & Walkden 

Carrfield Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Rigby Grove Little Hulton & Walkden 

Moorland Drive Little Hulton & Walkden 

Seddon Street Little Hulton & Walkden 

Ram Street Little Hulton & Walkden 

Highfield Road Little Hulton & Walkden 

East Lynn Drive Little Hulton & Walkden 

Manchester Road A6 Little Hulton & Walkden 

Ladywell Grove Little Hulton & Walkden 

Stoneyside Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Regent Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Wilbraham Road Little Hulton & Walkden 

Irwell Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Ladywell Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Greemfield Road Little Hulton & Walkden 

Bracken Aveneue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Corrie Street Little Hulton & Walkden 

Graymar Road Little Hulton & Walkden 

Broughton Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Wordsworth Road Little Hulton & Walkden 

Russell Street Little Hulton & Walkden 

Pemberton Street Little Hulton & Walkden 

Eastham Way Little Hulton & Walkden 

Blair Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Page 40



Wingate Road Little Hulton & Walkden 

Falcon Drive Little Hulton & Walkden 

Wayside Grove Little Hulton & Walkden 

Harbourne Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Carlton Close Little Hulton & Walkden 

Elvington Crescent Little Hulton & Walkden 

Croft Grove Little Hulton & Walkden 

Nansen Street Ordsall & Langworthy 

Goulden Street Ordsall & Langworthy 

Albion Way (near Toyota Garage) Ordsall & Langworthy 

Gledhill Avenue Ordsall & Langworthy 

West Crown Avenue Ordsall & Langworthy 

Thurlow Street Ordsall & Langworthy 

Worrall Street Ordsall & Langworthy 

Goodiers Drive  Ordsall & Langworthy 

Algernon Street Swinton 

Canonsway Swinton 

Douglas Street Swinton 

Lottie Street Swinton 

West Drive Swinton 

East Drive Swinton 

Central Drive Swinton 

East Central Drive Swinton 

North Drive Swinton 

West Central Drive Swinton 

Oaklands Road Worsley & Boothstown 

Leigh Road Worsley & Boothstown 

East Lancashire Road Worsley & Boothstown 

Holyrood Driive Worsley & Boothstown 

Mardale Road Worsley & Boothstown 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



Footway Refurbishment - Surface Inlay 2019/20 

 
 Street  Neighbourhood Area 

Parkfield Claremont & Weaste 

Hillfield Claremont & Weaste 

2-16 Meadowgate Road Claremont & Weaste 

Weaste Drive Claremont & Weaste 

Lancaster Road Claremont & Weaste 

Broomhall Road Claremont & Weaste 

Worcester Street East Salford 

Oaklands Road East Salford 

Barton Road Eccles 

Brandon Avenue Eccles 

Westmorland Road Eccles 

Snowden Road Eccles 

clarendon Road Eccles 

Cromwell Road Eccles 

Fox Street Eccles 

Schofield Road Eccles 

Russell Street Eccles 

Beech Avenue Irlam & Cadishead 

Marlborouh Road Irlam & Cadishead 

Moorhey Road Little Hulton & Walkden 

Upland drive Little Hulton & Walkden 

Peel Park Cres Little Hulton & Walkden 

St Marks Crescent Little Hulton & Walkden 

Medway Road Little Hulton & Walkden 

Shawbrook Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Walter Street Little Hulton & Walkden 

Brougham Ave Little Hulton & Walkden 

Shalbourne Road Little Hulton & Walkden 

West Ave Little Hulton & Walkden 

North Grove Little Hulton & Walkden 

Buile Hill Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Windsor Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Kersal Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Laurel Drive Little Hulton & Walkden 

Eastham Way Little Hulton & Walkden 

Langworthy Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Claremont Dr Little Hulton & Walkden 

Beechfield Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Regent Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Marsh Road Little Hulton & Walkden 

Ordsall Avenue Little Hulton & Walkden 

Page 42



Ellesmere Street Little Hulton & Walkden 

Shelley Road Little Hulton & Walkden 

Penrith Ave Little Hulton & Walkden 

Old Clough Lane Little Hulton & Walkden 

Parkway Little Hulton & Walkden 

Bolton Road Swinton 

Conway Avenue Swinton 

Langley Road South Swinton 

Dunster Rd Swinton 

Manchester Road Swinton 

Calder Drive Swinton 

Browning Road Swinton 

Burns Avenue Swinton 

St Anns Street Swinton 

Cawder Street Swinton 

Moss Bank Road Swinton 

Normanby Street Swinton 

Normanby Grove  Swinton 

Mulgrave Street Swinton 

Cherry Drive Swinton 

Douglas Street Swinton 

Abbey Drive Swinton 

Priory Road Swinton 

Leinster Road Swinton 

Overdale Swinton 

Hope Street Swinton 

Beechfield Road Swinton 

Mount Street Swinton 

Granby Road Swinton 

Allenby Road Swinton 

Moss Lane Swinton 

Kirby Avenue Worsley and Boothstown 

Brooklands Road Worsley and Boothstown 

Greenleach Lane Worsley and Boothstown 

Walkden Road Worsley and Boothstown 

Ridgemont Drive Worsley and Boothstown 

Vicars Hall Gardens Worsley and Boothstown 

Haydock Drive Worsley and Boothstown 

Braemar Lane Worsley and Boothstown 

Beatrice Road Worsley and Boothstown 

 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Part 1 (Open to the Public)

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE

TO
 TO GROWTH & PROSPERITY SCRUTINY PANEL

ON 
20TH MAY 2019

TITLE: Mayor’s Cycling and Walking Challenge Fund scheme prioritisation and 
bidding update

RECOMMENDATIONS:

That the Growth & Prosperity Scrutiny Panel notes and comments on the progress to
date with the Mayor’s Challenge Fund programme and success so far with securing 
grants from this fund.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

£160 million has been made available for walking and cycling schemes over four 
years through the Mayor’s Cycling and Walking Challenge Fund (MCF). Six Salford 
schemes have successfully gained programme entry through tranches 1 and 2. The 
schemes have a combined estimated cost of £20.5 million with £12.3 million secured 
from MCF.

The prioritised pipeline of schemes has been refined following the first two funding 
bid rounds in line with the funding criteria and other factors. It is recommended that 
this is approved and that MCF bids will be made on the basis of the prioritised list.  

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 
Briefing to Joint Lead Member Briefing Planning & Sustainable Development and 
Housing & Neighbourhoods 23 March 2018, Item 7h Cycling Infrastructure Update

KEY DECISION: NO

Page 45

Agenda Item 5



2

DETAILS:

1. Background

1.1 On 15 December 2017 Greater Manchester’s Walking and Cycling 
Commissioner’s report ‘Made to Move’ was approved by the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA). The 15-point plan features 
ambitious targets to improve cycling and walking rates.

1.2 The report includes proposals to publish a detailed 2018 Greater Manchester-
wide walking and cycling infrastructure plan, and establish a ring-fenced, 10-
year, £1.5 billion infrastructure fund for walking and cycling. On 29 March 
2018 the GMCA agreed to allocate £160 million (£10 million in 2018/19 and 
£50 million per annum thereafter for three years) to a Mayor’s Cycling and 
Walking Challenge Fund (MCF).

1.3 The Cycling and Walking Commissioner and the 10 Local Authorities have 
engaged with residents and stakeholders to inform the development of draft 
local network plans, identifying potential cycling and walking improvements 
and existing constraints. This information has been used to inform ‘Beelines’ 
Greater Manchester’s cycling and walking infrastructure proposals.  The plans 
published in ‘Beelines’ are a comprehensive first draft of the potential 
infrastructure interventions, which aim to encourage more walking and cycling 
across Greater Manchester.  

1.4 A 12 week public consultation on ‘Beelines’ was launched on 27 June 2018.  
To support this Community Committees have been offered network planning 
workshops, through the scheduled meetings to engage with local residents. 
Three workshops have been held so far and further sessions will be held as 
neighbourhood managers confirm dates.

2. Development process for Salford’s cycling plans / priorities 

2.1 Salford has for a number of years been working towards developing an 
ambitious and comprehensive cycling network through programmes such as 
Block 3, Growth Deal, Cycle City Ambition Grant (CCAG) and Local 
Sustainable Transport Fund (LSTF). Network planning exercises have also 
been undertaken, such as a study in 2017 by expert cycle planning 
consultants (Phil Jones Associates) to assist in identifying potential 
improvements, members have previously been briefed on this. 

2.2 As a result of this previous work, Salford has demonstrated a strong ambition 
to improving cycling facilities, and has a good foundation on which to bid to 
future funds such as the Mayor’s Challenge Fund, to improve cycling provision 
in the city.

3. Mayor’s Cycling and Walking Challenge Fund Tranche 1 and 2 Bids
 
3.1 A pipeline of schemes has been developed for funding bids based on previous 

cycling development work, the draft Beelines network and through the 

Page 46



3

development of the Transport and Infrastructure Project Portfolio and this was 
used to identify priorities for the first two tranches of MCF bids. Bids are 
invited on a quarterly basis.

3.2 Six Salford schemes have successfully gained programme entry through 
tranches 1 and 2 of the Mayor’s Cycling and Walking Challenge Fund (see 
Annex 3 for a short summary of each scheme): 

 Chapel Street East Phase 1
 Broad Street (A6)/Frederick Road (B6186) junction 
 Junctions on the A6 in Swinton and Walkden  
 Swinton Greenway 
 Trinity Way/ Springfield Lane junction
 Monton Beelines and implied zebra trial
 Trafford Road 
 Barton Aqueduct 
 Ordsall made to move 
 Liverpool road corridor  

3.3 The schemes have a combined estimated cost of £30 million has been  
secured from MCF. The local contributions for these projects are from a range 
of sources including Growth Deal, S106, and Block 3).

3.4 Schemes that have gained programme are currently being developed in detail 
and will be taken through the MCF governance arrangements approved by the 
GMCA on 25 May 2018, over the next few months.

4. Future Mayor’s Cycling and Walking Challenge Fund bids

4.1 As outlined in section 1, the MCF is a long term funding pot with significant 
resource to deliver a step change in cycling and walking across GM. The 
application and assessment process for MCF bids is new and as such is being 
developed and refined by TfGM and the Mayor’s cycling team as experienced 
is gained.   

4.4 Schemes and priorities will be reviewed regularly to ensure it reflects new 
opportunities. 

4.5 Funding bids can be submitted for consideration on an ongoing basis with 
deadlines every quarter. The next three deadlines and decision points are set 
out in the table:

Latest date for pro-
forma submission to 
TfGM

GM C&W Board 
Meeting Date

GMCA Meeting 
date

25 Jan 2019 w/c 25 February 2019 29 Mar 2019

Page 47



4

26 Apr 2019 w/c 20 May 2019 28 Jun 2019

26 Jul 2019 w/c 19 August 2019 27 Sep 2019

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: Equality issues will be 
considered on a scheme by scheme basis and will be highlighted in future reports.

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Risks will be considered on a scheme by scheme basis 
and will be highlighted in future reports.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Legal implications will be considered on a scheme by 
scheme basis and will be highlighted in future reports.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Financial implications will be considered on a scheme 
by scheme basis and will be highlighted in future reports.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Procurement implications will be considered on a 
scheme by scheme basis and will be highlighted in future reports.

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: HR implications will be considered on a scheme by 
scheme basis and will be highlighted in future reports.
 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: N/A

CONTACT OFFICER: Catriona Swanson TEL NO: 3646

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All

Page 48



1

GROWTH & PROSPERITY SCRUTINY PANEL

17th April 2019 

Meeting commenced: 6:00 p.m.
      “ ended: 7.05 p.m.

PRESENT: Councillor Lewis – in the Chair
Councillors Critchley, R. Garrido, Jolley, Lindley, Ord and Weir

Councillor Boshell – Strategic Deputy City Mayor

Councillors Coen and Warmisham

OFFICERS: Ben Dolan - Strategic Director Place
Peter Openshaw - Assistant Director Regulatory & Client Services 
Claire Edwards - Democratic Services

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC IN ATTENDANCE:
Mark Eavey
Graham Denning
Diane Wilson
David Graham
Richard Johnson
Claire Ovey
Graeme Langton
Mari Eccles (MEN)
Stephen Kingston (Salford Star)

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Dickman, Mashiter, Pevitt and 
Wheeler.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Critchley declared an interest due to him residing near to the site in question.  He 
addressed the Panel as one of the three Members who had called-in the decision and did not take 
part in the Panel’s deliberations or vote on the matter.

3. CALL-IN – DISPOSAL OF LAND AT EAST PHILIP STREET

The Chair clarified that the purpose of the meeting was to consider the decision-making process that 
had been followed in respect of the above matter, and not the subject of the decision itself.  She 
established that Panel Members had read the papers for the meeting, which included the following 
documents –

- Call-in Protocol;
- Report to the City Mayor’s Regeneration & Property Briefing held on 25 March 2019;
- Record of Decision;
- Request for decision to be called-in.

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



2

Councillor Critchley addressed the Panel, outlining the four principles with which he did not believe 
the decision had been taken in accordance, which are summarised as follows –

(a) Due consideration and the taking of appropriate advice from officers

Prior to the decision being taken, there had not been any consultation with Ward Councillors, 
local residents, artists in the neighbouring mill or local businesses.  This was not in accordance 
with Paragraph 3.2.3 of the Council’s Policy for the Treatment of Surplus Property, which states - 
“It will then consult with the relevant Ward Councillors and other relevant parties to identify any 
potential issues or interest there may be in the property.” 

Relevant background information relating to the site had not been included in the officer report 
that had been submitted for consideration.  The site had been planted as a Community Forest 
Garden and many varieties of mature trees were now present on the land.  It had been 
developed in conjunction with the neighbouring mill and shop unit, as a project in sustainable 
urban farming, and had involved many local residents, community groups and volunteers.  The 
site had received substantial financial investment from the Council and had formed the centre 
piece of Salford’s involvement in the Manchester International Festival.  It had received several 
awards and had featured in the local and national press.  The site had been selected due to its 
location within a deprived community, in an area with poor diet and poor access to fresh fruit and 
vegetables.  The Community Forest Garden had been designed to leave a legacy to the 
community.  None of this information was included in the officer report, on the basis of which the 
decision had been taken.

(b) Presumption in favour of openness

There had been no openness in respect of the decision-making process.  Consultation had not 
taken place with Ward Councillors, community groups or members of the public, who had been 
involved in building and maintaining the forest garden, prior to the decision being taken.

The officer report that had been submitted for consideration had originally been considered in the 
Part 2 (Closed to the Public) section of the City Mayor’s Property & Regeneration Briefing, as a 
result of which none of the information upon which the decision was based had been available to 
members of the public.

(c) Due consideration to be given to alternative options

There was no evidence in the report to demonstrate that consideration had been given to the 
existing use of the site being maintained, or to allowing the maintenance of the site to be 
undertaken by appropriate community groups, charities or organisations.  Individuals had 
indicated that the Council had prevented them from maintaining and utilising the site for its 
intended purpose.  A local organisation had already submitted a request to the Council to 
undertake a clean-up of the site, which demonstrated the ongoing interest and involvement of the 
community.

Policy GS117 of the Council’s Greenspace Strategy requires surplus greenspace to be used to 
meet a shortfall in other types of greenspace.  There was no evidence that this had occurred.  
There is an identified shortfall of greenspace and allotments within this part of the city.

The officer report indicated that the decision had arisen from a Development Agreement (DA) 
between the City Council and Urban Splash, dated 11th February 2005, and was now over 14 

Page 50



3

years old.  It was concerning that this DA had prevented alternative options for the site from 
being considered.

(d)  Wednesbury reasonableness

During the decision-making process, consideration had not been given to any information relating 
to the site’s current use, history, community involvement, intended legacy and Council 
investment, and the decision did not therefore seem to be reasonable.

Councillor Coen expressed his support in relation to Councillor Critchley’s submission to the Panel 
and highlighted the importance of retaining the green space in question due to the surrounding area 
being densely populated and built up.  He stated that, in his role as Ward Councillor for Irwell 
Riverside, within which the site was located, he did not believe that there had been any malicious 
intent in terms of the lack of consultation, but that communication had been poor.

Councillor Warmisham also expressed his support with regard to Councillor Critchley’s 
representations and emphasised the importance of protecting green spaces, particularly within built 
up areas such as the area within which this site was located, to provide communities with the green 
space that they need.

The Chair then provided an opportunity for members of the public to make representations regarding 
any additional issues in respect of the matter, which are summarised as follows –

- The owner of a nearby business that had been located in the area for many years, had 
previously contacted Urban Vision regarding the possibility of renting or purchasing the land 
in question, and had been informed that this would not be possible.  They had not been 
consulted in respect of the future plans for the site.

- Many local people had been involved in the development of the Community Forest Garden.  
The project had played, and could play in the future, an important role in terms of 
encouraging the local community to work together.

- The site in question included a designated highway and a query was raised as to how a plot 
of land that includes a designated highway could be sold?

- Concern regarding the lack of transparency in respect of the decision and concern that 
decisions regarding land sales were regularly considered as confidential agenda items.

In response to the issues raised, Councillor Boshell informed the Panel that at the time she had 
taken the decision, she had believed that she had been presented with all the relevant information 
and that the appropriate consultation had been undertaken.  As this was not the case, it was 
intended that the taking of the decision be deferred in order to enable all relevant information to be 
submitted for consideration and appropriate consultation to be undertaken, following which the 
matter would be re-considered at a future City Mayor’s Property & Regeneration Briefing.  Councillor 
Boshell acknowledged the views that had been expressed at the meeting and indicated that she 
would welcome some evidence being presented with regard to future plans for the site, which did not 
appear to have been maintained for a number of years.

Ben Dolan referred to the original report having been considered in the Part 2 (Closed to the public) 
section of the City Mayor’s Property & Regeneration Briefing and stated that the process for 
preparing future reports was in the process of being reviewed.  He apologised for the omissions that 

Page 51



4

had occurred during the decision-making process and assured the Panel that the issues that had 
been raised in relation to openness and transparency would be reviewed.

Ben Dolan referred to the question that had been raised regarding the inclusion of a designated 
highway within the site and indicated that should this be the case, then further consideration of the 
matter would be required.

Members of the Panel discussed the matter during which reference was made to the following –

- The importance of consideration being given to alternative options for the site.
-
- The importance of areas of green space being located within densely populated, built up 

areas.

- Concern that the site had been allowed to deteriorate to its current state.

- The site’s current designation as ‘miscellaneous land’ on the Council’s Asset Register.

- The current status of the Development Agreement given that it was now over 14 years old. 

- A report having previously been made to the Council regarding the existence of Japanese 
Knotweed on the site, in respect of which no action had been taken.

- The need to ensure that appropriate consultation was undertaken with Ward Councillors in 
the future with regard to all relevant developments/issues throughout the city.

- Concern regarding the issues that had been raised in relation to openness and transparency 
and the need for those issues to be urgently addressed.

Panel Members welcomed Councillor Boshell’s intention to defer the taking of the decision in 
order to enable all the relevant information to be considered and appropriate consultation to be 
undertaken.  A query was raised as to why it had been necessary for a meeting of the Panel to 
be convened when the decision-maker was already intending to defer the taking of the decision 
in light of the issues that had been raised.  However, Panel Members welcomed the opportunity 
that the meeting had presented for the matter to be considered in public.

Members voted unanimously to follow the intended course of action that had been outlined by 
Councillor Boshell and refer the matter back to the City Mayor’s Property & Regeneration Briefing 
for re-consideration, once all the relevant information was available and all relevant consultation 
had been undertaken.

Page 52



GROWTH & PROSPERITY SCRUTINY PANEL – DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME MAY 2019

Date Agenda Item(s) Lead Officer(s)

24 June 2019, 6.00pm  Regeneration 2018/19 Outturn Report
 Salford Innovation Forum

Paul Hutchings
Peter Openshaw

Abeyance List

 Update on Cambridge
 Western Gateway Update
 Salix Homes – Review of Stock Transfer Agreement
 City West / ForViva Progress Update
 Greening the City (Greenspace Strategy / City of Trees) / Carbon Reduction Management

Portfolio of the Board: Membership – 12 Members:

 Physical regeneration,
 Business investment and programmes,
 Planning, housing and transport strategy and delivery,
 Pendleton PFI,
 Environmental sustainability,
 Housing: (Citywest, Salix client and private),
 Climate change,
 Urban Vision,
 To discharge the Council’s scrutiny functions as lead local flood 

authority.
 To scrutinise the Council’s business plan and budget in this functional 

area.

Councillor August
Councillor Critchley
Councillor Dickman
Councillor R. Garrido
Councillor Hesling
Councillor Jolley
Councillor Lewis (Chair)
Councillor Nkurunziza
Councillor Sharpe
Councillor Ward
Councillor Weir
Councillor M. Wheeler

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Derive Update.
	Derive Business Plan

	4 Highways Investment Programme.
	Report
	Appendix A

	5 Made to Move Programme.
	6 Minutes of proceedings.
	7 Draft Work Programme.

